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An open letter to the people of Wyoming:

for immeDiAte releASe - July 16, 2014 
Visit edu.wyoming.gov/press for contact details

The draft report of the select investigative committee was publicly released, so I must respond 
publicly.

Before responding, I want to briefly comment on an injustice worked against the people of Wyo-
ming.  I have always advocated for transparency and honest, careful review of government.  A 
year ago when the investigative committee was formed, I sent Speaker Lubnau a letter requesting 
a transparent and fair process.  As the committee was being staffed with SF104 supporters and leg-
islators who had publicly and repeatedly slandered me, I worried that the legitimacy of the process 
would be questioned.  On June 27, 2013, I wrote:

Without due process protections, I fear your process will disregard the truth and the evi-
dence, and that your process will be viewed as a sham motivated by political reasons rather 
than honoring the Wyoming Constitution.  As such, it will not be just and will be disrespect-
ful not only to me but to Wyoming voters.

I am attaching all of my correspondence to and from the committee as I believe it is the best evi-
dence of how the process unfolded. 

Rest assured that had there been malfeasance, the legislative leadership would have moved to im-
peach or file criminal charges long ago.  Instead, after multiple investigations, hearings, and audits, 
this committee is left in the same place Cathy MacPherson was more than a year ago – holding a 
bag full of innuendo, opinions, and a few hurt feelings. 

In the end, this process has cost the Wyoming taxpayer over a million dollars (see attached spread-
sheet) and produced what is, at best, an intentional and malicious slander, and at worst, the basest 
attempt at political assassination.  Most troubling is that the committee allowed this process to 
languish until the height of a political campaign.  This report must be seen for what it is: a very 
expensive piece of political propaganda.
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I have always resisted the effort on a part of a few legislators to usurp the powers vested by the 
people in their executive leaders.  When the legislature passed an unconstitutional law, I success-
fully challenged it in the Wyoming Supreme Court.  Recently I asked the state bar to look at the 
legal and ethical elements of this committee’s work because it seems to me improper for the attor-
neys who were involved to have acted against their professional code.  The state bar will examine 
the actions of the committee members and draw its own conclusions about the process.
 
Beyond that, I ask the public to critically review what happened here.  We must assure ourselves 
and all future public officers that this type of political hack is never repeated.  The people of 
Wyoming deserve better.  I was not allowed even the most basic forms of due process.  I was not 
provided counsel, I was not permitted to call witnesses, I was never given notice of the charges, I 
was not given access to evidence in the committee’s possession, I was not allowed to cross exam-
ine witnesses, and committee meetings were primarily held in secret.  Even the release of the draft 
report was done in a way to deny due process.  The committee adopted an 11th hour rule change so 
that I would not be able to comment on the report before it was released publicly.
 
So I will comment now.  The reader should be mindful that because the committee refused to hear 
from any of my witnesses, my response can only include what my witnesses would have said had 
they been interviewed by the committee’s attorneys or permitted to testify.   	
 
After reading my response, if you have further questions or would like clarification, I invite you 
(the public, legislators, and anyone interested) to meet with my staff and me to discuss these is-
sues.  All questions can be answered and these issues resolved in an hour or two.  I made this same 
invitation to the committee many times.  Each time, I was ignored or rejected (see correspon-
dence).  It seems the committee was less interested in facts and more focused on other things . . . .
 
Teacher to Teacher
Had all witnesses been permitted to testify, and had the committee objectively examined the docu-
ments I provided, the report would reflect that professional development and technical assistance 
provided by the Wyoming Department of Education (WDE) to districts was not only appropriate, 
but required by both state and federal law.  Further, the report would reflect that the WDE was in 
full compliance with 2012 Wyoming Session Laws Chapter 26, Section 5.  The evidence would 
also show that the WDE was always transparent and open in its communication with the legisla-
ture regarding its expenditures of funds for professional development and technical assistance.
 
Management of WDE Financial Directives
Had all witnesses been permitted to testify, and had the committee objectively examined the 
documents I provided, the report would have reflected that Paul Williams was paid only for time 
worked and that he provided invaluable service, saving the state in excess of $3,000,000.  Further 
the report would reflect that Shan Anderson was highly qualified and performed important and 
valuable work for the state.  The report would also state that appropriate action was always taken 
with regard to any such contracts.  The report would show that Victoria Lesher was a highly quali-
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fied individual who provided valuable and appropriate service to the state in accordance with fed-
eral guidelines.  Regarding the A-133 Audit, the report would show that during that period, WDE 
finances were carefully managed in accordance with all state and federal laws.

Fremont #38
Had all witnesses been permitted to testify, and had the committee objectively examined the docu-
ments I provided, the evidence would have shown the WDE collaboration with Fremont School 
District #38 was an appropriate response to a request for technical assistance by a struggling dis-
trict.  This was not only an appropriate response, but it was a response directed by Chapter 6 of the 
Wyoming Department of Education Rules.  

folloWing StAtuTeS AnD executive BrAnch regulAtionS AnD 
Legislative Directives
Had all witnesses been permitted to testify, and had the committee objectively examined the docu-
ments I provided, the report would have reflected that the WDE met all deadlines and completed 
all assigned work related to the Wyoming Accountability in Education Act.  The report would also 
reflect that the WDE fully complied with all state statutes and regulations regarding employee clas-
sification and positions and that all personnel policies and rules were always carefully followed, as 
the MacPherson Report concluded.  If complete, the report would show that neither political nor 
personal loyalty was ever expected of any employee at the WDE.  If all witnesses were allowed to 
testify the report would reflect that the descriptions of certain meetings were either grossly mis-
characterized, or simply fabricated.

My Testimony Before the Committee
The report author(s) expresses opinions about my testimony before the committee.  His/Her opin-
ions are irrelevant and seem to be included in the report simply to inflame and/or prejudice.  As of 
the writing of this response, the transcripts of my testimony are available at http://legisweb.state.
wy.us/LegislatorSummary/Audio.aspx.  I do not know why the recorded audio is not available as 
that would allow a listener to better understand the tone, tenor, and general feel of the hearings.  
At the hearing I was cross examined by Bruce Salzburg and answered every question he asked.  I 
would invite anyone to review my testimony and draw their own conclusions.

My lack of specific response to any part of the report should not be considered or construed as an 
acknowledgment or agreement to the accuracy or validity of that portion of the report.

Sincerely, 

Cindy Hill

Attached:	 Estimated Investigative Costs
Compiled Investigative Committee Correspondence Through 12/16/2013

http://legisweb.state.wy.us/LegislatorSummary/Audio.aspx
http://legisweb.state.wy.us/LegislatorSummary/Audio.aspx


Minimum Estimated Costs Associated with Committee Work
Macpherson inquiry (direct cost paid to Cathy MacPherson) $150,000.00
Management Council (appropriation to pay attorneys and fund meetings) $231,000.00
Estimated value of WDE staff time and resources diverted from the students of Wyoming to this process. $500,000.00
Estimated value of OSPI staff time and resources diverted from the students of Wyoming to this process. $200,000.00
Estimated ETS assistance in subpeona requests $10,000.00
Estimated LSO Attorneys cost $250,000.00

Total Estimated Cost $1,341,000.00
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October 1, 2013 
 
Speaker Tom Lubnau 
Wyoming House of Representatives 
Wyoming Capitol 
Cheyenne, WY  82002 
 
        VIA email and interoffice mail 
 
Dear Speaker Lubnau: 
 
I am writing in response to your September 27, 2013 letter regarding my production of documents 

related to two subpoenas.   

I am somewhat perplexed by your letter.  My small staff, without the assistance of an attorney, spent 

the better part of two weeks collecting and preparing the documents you requested.  Now, if I 

understand your letter, you are complaining that we provided too many documents.   

I received two very broadly worded subpoenas from you.  I am not a lawyer, but as I reviewed your 

subpoenas it seemed that any number of emails and other documents might be responsive, related to, 

or relevant to your requests.  I wanted to ensure that your committee had everything you might possibly 

need so that your work would be based on all the relevant facts.  I did not want to speculate as to what 

you might find relevant and responsive and run the risk of failing to provide some important document.   

As you noted in your letter, I have always maintained a position of total transparency.  My response, 

which disclosed every email and document produced in my office during the relevant time period, was 

consistent with that approach.  Without the benefit of a lawyer to assist me, I believed it was best to 

provide everything rather than run the risk of not complying with the subpoena.  Cathy MacPherson and 

her team also had access to all of this information and I thought it was only fair that your committee 

have the same level of access.       

You now have all the documents you need from my office.  I will leave it to you, the LSO staff and 

attorneys, and the other legal advisors and/or consultants you decide to hire to determine what is useful 

to you.  I must, however, reiterate the concerns expressed by my deputy, John Masters, regarding the 

very sensitive, confidential, and/or privileged nature of much of the information provided. (see attached 

letter from John Masters)   
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           October 8, 2013 

 

 

     Re:  Retention of Special Counsel for Select Investigative Committee 

 

Dear President Ross and Management Council Members, 

 

As most of you are aware, over the past two months, the Select Investigative Committee, through 

its four subcommittees, has conducted an investigation into allegations of improprieties 

involving the Wyoming Department of Education and the Office of Superintendent of Public 

Instruction.  The subcommittees have requested documents from the Office of Superintendent of 

Public Instruction, the Wyoming Department of Education (WDE) and the Wyoming 

Department of Administration and Information pertaining to the issues this Committee is charged 

with investigating.  To date, the subcommittees have received hundreds of thousands (if not over 

one million) pages of documents (some relevant and some irrelevant) pursuant to our document 

requests.  LSO staff for the Select Investigative Committee is attempting to organize these 

documents and other information into a format the Committee can use. As an example, the 

Superintendent of Public Instruction provided a document dump of 118 gb of information, 

consisting of 160,000 discrete files consisting of what I am told could be 800,000 to one million 

pages of information.   On the other hand, the Wyoming Department of Education has provided 

organized, searchable and useable responses to our requests.   The contrast is stark. 

 

The Superintendent claims she is cooperating fully by burying the Committee with reams of 

irrelevant documents, and only she knows her true motives.   Staffing of the Committee has 

become an issue.   We anticipate her supporters will issue a hue and cry about requests for 

additional dollars to accomplish our task, as well as retention of counsel by the Committee.   The 

criticism will be leveled no matter what the Committee does.   The subcommittees are making 

progress, and we believe that further proceedings are necessary to finalize the answers raised by 

the WDE employee allegations. 

 

The Committee attempted to address this task without staffing other than LSO, and we have 

made some progress on the issues, but the complexities of the issues, the need to interview 

further witnesses, and the legal hurdles the committee finds itself having to address make it 

difficult or nearly impossible for a citizen legislature to address alone.   Let me share a few 

examples.   Included within the hundreds of thousands of pages of documents produced by the 

Superintendent is confidential information concerning an untold numbers of school students.   
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Some of the confidential student information is medical in nature. Most, if not all of the 

confidential student information is nonresponsive to the subpoena requests – in other words, the 

Committee did not ask for any of this information in any way, shape or form.   Production of that 

information may be protected by the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and 

the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).   To avoid any wrongful 

disclosure of that information by the Committee, the Committee has not reviewed the 

information contained on the hard drive produced by the Superintendent.   By keeping the 

student information confidential, the Committee has restricted itself from reviewing the 

Superintendent’s documents.   Of course, the Superintendent’s response to the subpoena came 

with a demand that the Committee keep confidential documents confidential.   The Committee 

has asked the Superintendent to take another stab at production of documents, and according to 

news media reports, she will not do so.   The Committee finds itself in a complicated legal 

situation, created not of its own making, and needs experienced legal advice on how to proceed. 

 

Allow me to share another example.   One of the employees investigated has threatened to sue 

other individual employees for sharing information with the Committee and not following the 

customary procedures for administrative relief under the State’s rules, which his counsel claims 

has denied this employee due process and other protections potentially available to him.  

Additionally, the employee has made claims for defamatory communications which tend to hold 

this employee to “hatred, contempt, ridicule or scorn” or that “tends to injure his reputation as to 

diminish the esteem, respect, goodwill or confidence in which” the employee is held.   

 

Next, the Superintendent, through one of her three attorneys, has made demand on members of 

the committee for publishing a white paper detailing why certain votes were made on Senate File 

104.   That letter, coupled with her demands that information be held confidential or subject the 

Committee to criminal or civil prosecution has created a difficult legal scenario through which 

the Committee is now obligated to navigate. The Committee would benefit from the guidance of 

Special Counsel on the proper handling of confidential information and the manner in which it 

may be disclosed. 

 

Additionally, the assistance LSO staff can provide the Committee in actively conducting this 

investigation is limited.  Under our Committee rules, LSO staff cannot interview witnesses or 

provide us with an opinion on the veracity of witness testimony or whether a particular issue 

should continue to be investigated based on the evidence currently available to the Committee.  

Although warranted, these limitations have hindered the ability of the Committee to conduct a 

thorough investigation.   

 

The Committee appears to have reached a point at which it can no longer effectively or 

efficiently conduct the investigation into these critical issues assigned to it without additional 

assistance. Management Council realized the Committee may require the assistance of outside 

counsel and other experts and authorized the Committee to contract with such entities in its 

motion creating the Select Committee of July 12, 2013. Given its authority, the Committee voted 

to retain outside attorneys to act as Special Counsel for the Committee.  The Special Counsel, 

among other duties, will review relevant evidence on key issues as determined by the 
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subcommittees, help the subcommittees narrow the focus of their investigations and potentially 

conduct informal and formal interviews of witnesses and help draft the Committee's final report.  

And make no mistake; the Committee is still in the investigative phase of its process. It is 

collecting evidence and interpreting that evidence. Any sharing of the evidence collected at this 

point with an individual or entity outside of the control of the Committee would not only 

severely impact the ability of the Committee to complete its charge, it may be improper given the 

confidential nature of much of the information produced to the Committee. 

 

While conducting a search for Special Counsel, Committee leadership contacted multiple 

attorneys and law firms throughout Wyoming and a neighboring state. While most of these 

attorneys expressed interest in acting as Special Counsel, some declined because of the time 

commitment required, potential conflicts of interest or other issues.  The Committee received 

written expressions of interest from two groups of attorneys to act as Special Counsel. First, 

Bruce Salzburg, formerly Wyoming Attorney General and now with the law firm of Crowell and 

Moring, LLP, has offered to act as Lead Special Counsel assisted by Rob Jarosh and other 

attorneys from the Cheyenne firm of Hirst Applegate, LLP.  Additionally, a Denver, Colorado 

litigation firm has also expressed interest in acting as Special Counsel with a team of attorneys.  

Following is a breakdown of the proposed legal fees of Crowell Moring and Hirst Applegate, the 

Denver Firm and also the costs for the law firm of Atkin Gump who was retained this summer to 

act as the Special Counsel for the Utah House Special Investigative Committee into allegations 

of wrongdoing against Utah Attorney General John Swallow: 

 

 Crowell Moring- 

Hirst Applegate 

Denver 

Litigation Firm 

       Atkin Gump  

(Utah Special Counsel) 

Lead Counsel 

(per hour) 

 

 

$350 

 

$490 

 

$740 

Principal 

Attorney 

(per hour) 

 

 

$295 

 

$325 

 

$664 

Other Attorneys 

(per hour) 

 

$265 $225-300 $292 - $624  

Paralegals 

(per hour) 

 

$145 $125 $116 - $260 

Other Support 

Staff 

(per hour) 

 

N/A $75 (excludes 

Secretaries) 

N/A 

Other Expenses 

(copies, travel, 

meals, etc.) 

Yes  Yes Yes 
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After reviewing both expressions of interest, and considering all other factors (including the fact 

that a vast majority of the witnesses and meetings will be in Cheyenne) the Select Investigative 

Committee voted by e-mail ballot to retain the services of Bruce Salzburg of Crowell Moring 

and Rob Jarosh of Hirst Applegate to act as Special Counsel for the Select Investigative 

Committee.  Special Counsel will be retained pursuant to a Letter of Engagement sent from Mr. 

Salzburg which incorporates a "Scope of Services for Special Counsel" Memorandum prepared 

by LSO staff.  The Committee will also determine whether an investigator should be retained to 

assist the Special Counsel.  

 

The Committee is requesting that Management Council authorize an initial budget of one 

hundred thousand dollars ($100,000.00) for the services and expenses of Special Counsel and 

other staff or consultants the Committee determines necessary.  This is only an initial budget 

request. It may be necessary to request additional funds as this investigation progresses.  

 

Due to the urgency of concluding this investigation as soon as possible, I am requesting 

Management Council meet by conference call for Tuesday, October 15
th

, 2013 at 2:00 p.m. to 

consider the Committee's budget request.  LSO will also broadcast the meeting in Room 302 in 

the State Capitol for members who wish to attend in Cheyenne, representatives of the WDE and 

the Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction and the public.   

 

If you cannot attend the meeting, please submit your vote by e-mail to Dan Pauli at 

dan.pauli@wyoleg.gov or Matt Obrecht matt.obrecht@wyoleg.gov prior to the meeting on 

whether to authorize the initial budget request of $100,000.00 to the Select Investigative 

Committee to retain Special Counsel and other outside contractors as determined 

necessary by the Select Investigative Committee.  

 

Thank you and I look forward to hearing your thoughts on this issue next Tuesday.  

 

Respectfully,  

 
Rep. Tom Lubnau, Chairman 

Select Investigative Committee 

 
Cc – Select Investigative Committee Members  

Bruce Salzburg, Crowell Moring, LLP 

Rob Jarosh, Hirst Applegate LLP 

 

Enc. – Engagement Letter Crowell Moring LLP/Hirst Applegate LLP 

LSO Scope of Service for Special Counsel Memorandum 

Management Council Motion to Appoint Select Investigative Committee 
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October 22, 2013 
 
Speaker Tom Lubnau 
Wyoming House of Representatives 
Wyoming Capitol 
Cheyenne, WY  82002 
 
        VIA email and interoffice mail 
 
Dear Speaker Lubnau: 
 
I am writing for a couple of reasons.  First, I am following up with my letter of October 1, 2013.  In that 

letter, I wrote the following: 

On September 10, 2013, I sent you a letter requesting that you provide me with copies of 

whatever documents your committee possesses or has received related to this investigation 

(see my attached letter).  As of today, you have neither acknowledged receipt of my letter nor 

provided any documents.  Nevertheless, in your most recent letter you stated you possess 

“documented allegations of a myriad of fiscal and personnel charges lodged against you and 

your senior leadership.”  I would be very curious to see the documentation to which you are 

referring.   It will be difficult for me to be helpful in your investigation if you continue to fail or 

refuse to provide me with any evidence supporting the allegations.  Please advise whether such 

documents exist and when I can expect to receive copies of those essential documents. 

It has now been over a month since my request and you have not provided a single document 

supporting your statement.  Please acknowledge receipt and advise when you will make the referenced 

documents publicly available.   

The other matter I wanted to address involves the use of and reliance upon the MacPherson Report.  

Parts of the Report have been characterized by some as “testimony.”  Leah Todd at the Casper Star 

recently wrote about the work of one of your subcommittees: 

Wyoming Read is at the heart of the subcommittee’s investigation because of allegations that 

lingered after a state investigation published testimony from dozens of Department of 

Education employees who worked under Hill. 

... 

Lawmakers also considered published testimony from employees who said... 
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It should be very clear that with the exception of an occasional quote, the MacPherson Report contains 

no verbatim statements, let alone testimony.  The Report is simply Cathy MacPherson's recollections 

and summary of her interviews.  There was no transcript or recording made of any of the interviews 

and, to my knowledge, no one was under oath when they spoke with Ms. MacPherson.   

Whether or not Ms. MacPherson worked hard to accurately remember what was said, when my staff 

reviewed her summary of our interviews, we found many areas that were inaccurate and incomplete. 

 Fortunately, we had the opportunity to work with Ms. MacPherson to suggest clarifications and 

corrections.  That same process was not offered to WDE employees.   

I am sure that you are as eager as I am to have accurate and reliable information.  To that end, I 

recommend that each person who spoke with Ms. MacPherson be given the opportunity under oath to 

affirm, modify, or retract the unsworn statements being attributed to them.  Only then can your 

committees proceed with the level of clarity and integrity that this process demands.  Otherwise, you 

risk making recommendations based solely on Ms. MacPherson’s summarized recollections. 

I worry that the damage has already been done and that the objectivity of the committee has been 

irreparably tainted.  I understand that over the past weeks you and your committees have been 

reviewing and possibly relying upon this highly suspect, second‐hand information to formulate opinions 

and conclusions.  Although I am not a lawyer, I question how this “testimony” can be relied upon in any 

way, or is of any value to the process.    

As you know, your committee’s work is very important to me.  Please let me know how I can assist.    

Respectfully yours, 

 
 
Cindy Hill 
Wyoming Superintendent of Public Instruction 
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November 19, 2013 
 
Speaker Tom Lubnau 
Wyoming House of Representatives 
Wyoming Capitol 
Cheyenne, WY  82002 
 
        VIA email and interoffice mail 
 
Dear Speaker Lubnau: 
 
I am writing to express my concerns regarding the continued secretive nature of the work that is being 

conducted by your committees.  Although your rules specifically contemplated an open and transparent 

process, it appears the work of your committees has been primarily conducted in secret.      

The full committee has held two meetings thus far, both held largely behind closed doors (see 

yesterday’s three‐hour executive session).  Only one of the four sub‐committees held a public meeting 

before yesterday, and yet all four reported on the work they had been doing.  Where and when did this 

work occur?  How many secret sub‐committee meetings have occurred?  Is all of this substantive work 

being conducted out of the public eye in what you term “work sessions?”      

Not only are your committees meeting in secret, but you continue to refuse to provide me with any of 

the documents in your possession related to the committees’ work.  As you know, on four occasions I 

have requested in writing that you provide me with any of the documents you claim to have which 

support the allegations.  As of the writing of this email, you have not provided a single document.  Not 

only does your refusal negatively impact my ability to participate in this process, but the public deserves 

to know what your committees are reviewing.       

It appears now that you plan to further hide the work of the committee from public scrutiny as you have 

instructed your attorneys, paid with public funds, to secretly meet with individual witnesses to discuss 

their testimony.  I recognize your desire to control and orchestrate the narrative as it is presented 

publicly; however, this is not what is expected of public servants.  The people want and deserve the 

truth.  If you want individuals to testify, I would recommend you follow the rules you adopted and 

subpoena them, put them under oath, and require them to testify.  If the witness wants to engage 

counsel to assist them, your rules allow this.  However, these pre‐hearing meetings, where your 

attorneys will be allowed to prepare and coach witnesses, will be viewed, at best, as manipulative of the 

process, and at worst, as witness tampering.  Either way, it flies in the face of transparency, will further 
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erode the public trust, and I believe will irreparably taint this process.  Moreover, I see nothing in your 

rules that allows you to authorize attorneys to engage in such conduct – publicly or secretly.        

If you decide that these pre‐hearing witnesses prep meetings are necessary, I insist that I be permitted 

to be present.  This will allow me to formulate helpful follow‐up questions to be presented at the public 

hearing as permitted by your rules and will give me the opportunity to be thoughtful in my comments, if 

I am ever given an opportunity to speak.  

You were quoted in the paper today saying, “We’ve narrowed the issues down to just a handful of 

issues.”  I am also writing to request that you identify what issues are still being considered by the 

committees and provide all documents related to those issues.  This will help me as I work with your 

committees to walk them through the information that will assist them in resolving the issues.  Please 

respond to this letter and give me notice of what issues remain.   

Finally, because you have refused to provide me any documents up to this point, please consider this a 

formal request for documents under the Wyoming Public Records Act.  I am requesting that you make 

available for inspection all documents in the committees’ possession related to any of the “narrowed” 

issues they will be considering.   

 

Respectfully yours, 

 
 
Cindy Hill 
Wyoming Superintendent of Public Instruction 
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Superintendent of Public Instruction 

Cindy Hill, Superintendent of Public Instruction 
2301 Central Avenue, Barrett Building, Second Floor 

Cheyenne, Wyoming 82002 
phone: 307‐777‐2053 |  web: ospi.wyoming.gov 

 

 

 
 
November 21, 2013 
 
Speaker Tom Lubnau 
Wyoming House of Representatives 
Wyoming Capitol 
Cheyenne, WY  82002 
 
        VIA email and interoffice mail 
 
Dear Speaker Lubnau: 
 
I am writing to let you know that my staff and I would be pleased to meet with the committee and any 

sub‐committees in an effort to answer any questions you may have.  I understand that counsel for the 

committee will be meeting with individuals in the coming weeks (and I hope and expect that those 

interviews are not done in a way to influence what individuals will say, but rather, will be done with 

integrity).  However, we have heard nothing from your committee about whether you wish to speak 

with my staff or me.  I am confident that we can easily clear up any questions any of the sub‐committees 

may have.  Please advise me whether any of the sub‐committees or attorneys for the committees would 

like to meet with us.   

Further, please advise me of the safeguards that counsel for the committee will be putting into place to 

ensure that the interview of individuals is done with integrity, and not in a manner to influence or 

manipulate statements.  One safeguard for this would be to video and/or audio tape the interviews and 

make those recordings available to the public and me.   

I look forward to your prompt response. 

Respectfully yours, 

 
 
Cindy Hill 
Wyoming Superintendent of Public Instruction 
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Memorandum 

SELECT INVESTIGATIVE COMMITTEE  

 

  January 13, 2014 DATE

 

  Superintendent Cindy Hill TO

 

  Select Investigative Committee FROM

 

        Response to Superintendent Hill E-mail of January 9, 2014.  SUBJECT

 

 
  The Select Investigative Committee has received your electronic mail of January 9, 2014, 

addressed to Special Counsel.  

 

 Preliminarily, Special Counsel has been retained by the Select Investigative Committee 

(“Committee”) to assist it in its work.  As you know, the primary function of the Committee is the 

investigation of allegations of misconduct by you and your leadership team during your tenure as the head 

of the Wyoming Department of Education, including those issues identified by the Governor’s Inquiry 

Team Report of June 13, 2013.    

 

 Special Counsel is not independent; rather, they are tasked with representation of the Committee, 

their client.  Special Counsel assisted the Committee with its presentation of the witnesses and issues that 

the Committee deemed appropriate for the hearings and its investigation.   

 

 For over eight months, you have had the report of the Governor’s Inquiry Team, which contains 

18 chapters describing allegations of mismanagement of the Department of Education, misappropriation 

of funds and other alleged improprieties which occurred during your administration.  A separate 

confidential report was issued detailing complaints by some 18 employees about various personnel 

matters.  Additionally, during 2012, individual members of the Legislature received reports regarding 

budgetary and personnel improprieties from employees of the Department.  The Committee is primarily 

charged with determining whether any of the allegations that are detailed in the Governor’s Inquiry Team 

Report are true and, if so, whether they constitute grounds to support articles of impeachment under 

Article 3, § 18 of the Wyoming Constitution.  Further, the Committee is charged with determining 

whether any other legislative action might be appropriate to address any of the issues under investigation.    

   

 As confirmed in your letter to the Committee chair of October 22, 2013, after the Governor’s 

Inquiry Team conducted its interviews, you and the members of your staff were given the opportunity to 

review Ms. MacPherson’s interview summaries, and to correct any inaccuracies that were in the original 

report.  That opportunity was not offered to the Department of Education employees who provided 
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information to the Inquiry Team.  For that reason, the Committee determined that additional interviews of 

your staff were not necessary.  The time and expense of doing so was simply not justified.  

 

 The Committee has the summaries of the interviews of your staff, as corrected.  We assume that 

they are accurate and complete. 

 

 The Committee also has your list of 38 additional witnesses whom you request be interviewed or 

called to testify.  Some of these individuals have been interviewed, but the Committee determined that 

they had no material evidence to provide.  The Committee will consider and determine whether others are 

necessary for the completion of its work.  

 

 Your allegations of “witness tampering” by the Special Counsel in the interviewing and 

questioning of witnesses, or perjury by the witnesses called by the Committee, appear to have no basis.  

Continuously repeating them does not make them true.    

 

 The Committee did have in its possession the email exchange that is now in the record as Hill 

Exhibit 5.  It was on the external hard drive containing 118 gigabytes of data that you produced in 

response to the Committee’s document subpoena of September 3, 2013.  However, that communication in 

no way explains your instruction to departmental employees to remove references to programs in the 900 

series Report to the Joint Appropriations Committee.  We expect that the Committee’s report will address 

Hill Exhibit 5 in significant detail.   

 

Cc: 

Members, Select Investigative Committee 



Office of the Wyoming 
Superintendent of Public Instruction 

Cindy Hill, Superintendent of Public Instruction 
2301 Central Avenue, Barrett Building, Second Floor 

Cheyenne, Wyoming 82002 
phone: 307‐777‐2053 |  web: ospi.wyoming.gov 

 

 

 
January 17, 2014 
 
Selective Investigative Committee 
Wyoming House of Representatives 
Wyoming Capitol 
Cheyenne, WY  82002 
   

Via US Mail and email 
 

Members of the Select Investigative Committee: 

I received your January 13, 2014 Memorandum and am writing in response.  I hope you will take a 

moment to consider my thoughts.   

The author of the Memorandum wrote that the Committee’s primary charge was to determine 

“whether any of the allegations that are detailed in the Governor’s Inquiry Team Report are true and, if 

so, whether they constitute grounds to support articles of impeachment…”  Any person will tell you that 

a quest for truth requires careful consideration of all relevant evidence.  Any approach that ignores 

relevant evidence or tightly controls the message so that only one side of a story is told cannot be said 

to be designed to discover truth.  

I maintain that this Committee has not been presented the truth.  The attorneys you hired to assist your 

Committee in discovering truth never met with me or my staff.  Instead, they spent months meeting 

with and preparing people they knew would tell a very one‐sided story.  The attorneys you hired to 

assist you in discovering truth failed to bring to your attention documents which would tell both sides of 

the story. 

Let me give you some examples of how I believe this process is not intended to discover truth.   

The Memorandum suggests I have been aware of and had the opportunity to respond to the allegations 

before this committee for over eight months, as they were detailed in the MacPherson report.  If you 

review the MacPherson report, you will see that the concerns described by Trent Carroll, Greg Hanson, 

and Dianne Bailey are found nowhere in the Report.  Were these concerns not raised to MacPherson or 

her team?  Were they reviewed and determine to be false, baseless, or immaterial?  Either way, I never 

had the opportunity to consider and respond until they were presented to this Committee. 
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The failure to bring allegations to my attention made it difficult for me to effectively participate in your 

hearings.  What is worse, it may have resulted in the Committee having incomplete or inaccurate 

information.  

Another related example: I heard Mr. Carroll and Mr. Hansen testify, under oath, that they were asked 

to make corrections to a report, and yet they did not know why they were being asked to do this.  Once I 

learned of this allegation, I called the Committee’s attention to an email, written and sent 

contemporaneously to these events, clearly describing the nature and intent of the corrections.  Mr. 

Carroll and Mr. Hansen were copied on this email, as was the LSO.  This email has been in your 

possession since it came into existence.     

I do not know why Mr. Carroll’s and Mr. Hansen’s testimony was inconsistent with this piece of 

evidence, and I do not know why they failed to discuss this vital piece of evidence when they testified.  

Did someone decide that it was not relevant?  If so, who decided to filter this evidence?  Were Mr. 

Carroll and Mr. Hansen instructed to not provide or otherwise discuss this evidence?  Did they jointly 

make that decision?  Did they independently make that decision?  Most troubling, was there an effort by 

some to intentionally mislead the Committee? 

Without answers to those questions, I believe any reasonable person viewing these facts would be 

concerned that someone is trying to hide the truth.  Moreover, many people would say these facts give 

rise to concerns about possible witness tampering and perjury.  

This is just one of what I believe may be other instances where important evidence has been withheld 

from the Committee.  I have other examples which my proposed witnesses can discuss at this time, or 

which will come out publicly before the Senate, if necessary.     

In my last email, I requested copies of the notes (electronic or otherwise) that witnesses referred to and 

relied on as they testified before the Committee.  If I remember correctly, Mr. Carroll testified that your 

attorneys had provided him a list of questions in advance of the hearing that he would be asked (I don’t 

have access to the transcript or audio from the hearing, so my recollection may be incorrect).  

Regardless, Mr. Carroll relied heavily on the prepared notes as he testified to the committee.  His notes, 

and those of other witnesses, might answer some the questions I asked above about potential perjury 

and witness tampering.  Further investigation of my concerns may be warranted.   

I again request to be provided copies of the notes (in any format) of all who testified, as well as copies of 

affidavits correcting the errors in the MacPherson Report.  I understand that Dianne Bailey is providing 

an affidavit correcting a false statement she made regarding the funds used for the rent of the Laramie 

office.  I would like a copy of these documents as well.   Please provide those to me by the end of this 

week. 

Finally, the author of the Memorandum indicates that some of my requested witnesses have been 

interviewed and the Committee has determined that they had no material evidence to provide.  When 

was this determination made?  I don’t recall committee action to this effect.  Was this action taken prior 

to the hearings in an executive session or work session?  Please advise me which of my witnesses the 
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Committee has interviewed and determined to have no material evidence.  Also, please advise me as 

soon as possible which of my witnesses you will be interviewing and asking to testify.   

Thank you, 

 

Cindy Hill 

Superintendent of Public Instruction  
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Memorandum 

SELECT INVESTIGATIVE COMMITTEE  

 

  January 13, 2014 DATE

 

  Superintendent Cindy Hill TO

 

  Select Investigative Committee FROM

 

        Response to Superintendent Hill E-mail of January 9, 2014.  SUBJECT

 

 
  The Select Investigative Committee has received your electronic mail of January 9, 2014, 

addressed to Special Counsel.  

 

 Preliminarily, Special Counsel has been retained by the Select Investigative Committee 

(“Committee”) to assist it in its work.  As you know, the primary function of the Committee is the 

investigation of allegations of misconduct by you and your leadership team during your tenure as the head 

of the Wyoming Department of Education, including those issues identified by the Governor’s Inquiry 

Team Report of June 13, 2013.    

 

 Special Counsel is not independent; rather, they are tasked with representation of the Committee, 

their client.  Special Counsel assisted the Committee with its presentation of the witnesses and issues that 

the Committee deemed appropriate for the hearings and its investigation.   

 

 For over eight months, you have had the report of the Governor’s Inquiry Team, which contains 

18 chapters describing allegations of mismanagement of the Department of Education, misappropriation 

of funds and other alleged improprieties which occurred during your administration.  A separate 

confidential report was issued detailing complaints by some 18 employees about various personnel 

matters.  Additionally, during 2012, individual members of the Legislature received reports regarding 

budgetary and personnel improprieties from employees of the Department.  The Committee is primarily 

charged with determining whether any of the allegations that are detailed in the Governor’s Inquiry Team 

Report are true and, if so, whether they constitute grounds to support articles of impeachment under 

Article 3, § 18 of the Wyoming Constitution.  Further, the Committee is charged with determining 

whether any other legislative action might be appropriate to address any of the issues under investigation.    

   

 As confirmed in your letter to the Committee chair of October 22, 2013, after the Governor’s 

Inquiry Team conducted its interviews, you and the members of your staff were given the opportunity to 

review Ms. MacPherson’s interview summaries, and to correct any inaccuracies that were in the original 

report.  That opportunity was not offered to the Department of Education employees who provided 
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information to the Inquiry Team.  For that reason, the Committee determined that additional interviews of 

your staff were not necessary.  The time and expense of doing so was simply not justified.  

 

 The Committee has the summaries of the interviews of your staff, as corrected.  We assume that 

they are accurate and complete. 

 

 The Committee also has your list of 38 additional witnesses whom you request be interviewed or 

called to testify.  Some of these individuals have been interviewed, but the Committee determined that 

they had no material evidence to provide.  The Committee will consider and determine whether others are 

necessary for the completion of its work.  

 

 Your allegations of “witness tampering” by the Special Counsel in the interviewing and 

questioning of witnesses, or perjury by the witnesses called by the Committee, appear to have no basis.  

Continuously repeating them does not make them true.    

 

 The Committee did have in its possession the email exchange that is now in the record as Hill 

Exhibit 5.  It was on the external hard drive containing 118 gigabytes of data that you produced in 

response to the Committee’s document subpoena of September 3, 2013.  However, that communication in 

no way explains your instruction to departmental employees to remove references to programs in the 900 

series Report to the Joint Appropriations Committee.  We expect that the Committee’s report will address 

Hill Exhibit 5 in significant detail.   

 

Cc: 

Members, Select Investigative Committee 



Cindy Hill <cindy.hill@wyo.gov>

concerns and requests
1 message

Cindy Hill <cindy.hill@wyo.gov> Thu, Jan 9, 2014 at 10:46 AM
To: bsalzburg@crowell.com, rjarosh@hirstapplegate.com, klenhart@hirstapplegate.com
Cc: mark.baker@wyoleg.gov, rosie.berger@wyoleg.gov, gregg.blikre@wyoleg.gov, kermit.brown@wyoleg.gov,
Cathy.connolly@wyoleg.gov, Kathleen.davison@wyoleg.gov, michael.greear@wyoleg.gov, Representative Lubnau
<tom.lubnau@wyoleg.gov>, mike.madden@wyoleg.gov, glenn.moniz@wyoleg.gov, john.patton@wyoleg.gov,
ruth.petroff@wyoleg.gov, tim.stubson@wyoleg.gov, mary.throne@wyoleg.gov, Nathan.winters@wyoleg.gov,
Dan.zwonitzer@wyoleg.gov

Special Counsel,

I am writing to make a few requests and outline a few concerns. 

First, my concerns: Despite my many requests, neither you nor Chairman Lubnau ever advised me of what the
allegations against me were, or provided me any documents supporting those allegations.  As you can imagine, not
having this information made it difficult for me to be helpful to the committee.  I had provided all information and
documents you requested and I trusted that you and the committee would be diligent in presenting all relevant
information.  Over the course of the three days of hearings it became evident that this had not occurred. 

For example, Mr. Carroll and Mr. Hansen testified about a meeting where there was discussion about correcting a
series of reports to be presented to the legislature.  They testified that they were asked to make corrections to
certain reports, but that they did not understand why they were being asked to do so.  Chairman Lubnau
characterized these corrections as “document scrubbing.” 

I learned of these concerns for the first time during these hearings.  You had in your possession documents
explaining, in detail, the purpose and intent of these actions.  However, I learned during my testimony that you had
not provided those to the committee members.  Not only were you in possession of these documents, but so were
Mr. Carroll, Mr. Hansen, and Don Richards of the Legislative Services Office. 

This failure to provide relevant information resulted in confusion, suspicion, and what I believe may be perjury by
some witnesses.   I wonder if you have an obligation, as an attorney and an officer of this investigative panel, to
bring this potential perjury to the attention of a district attorney for appropriate review and investigation?

There are many other areas where it appears that relevant – even essential – information was not brought to the
Committee’s attention.  I am hopeful that as my witnesses are called, greater clarity will result.   

Regarding my witnesses, as required by the Committee rules, I provided my witnesses list at the end of the
hearing.  However, I was asked to submit a final witness list by Friday, January 10, 2013.  As I am refining that list,
it would be helpful to know what, if any, allegations have not been determined by the Committee to be baseless.  If
you would advise me as soon as possible, I may be able to pare down my witness list.  This will allow me to ensure
that all relevant documentation in you possession is brought to the attention of the Committee, but that Committee
time is not wasted on further refuting baseless claims. 

Based on information reported by Leah Todd in the Casper Star, Chairman Lubnau initially suggested you to meet
with me and my staff.  However, as reported, a fiscal decision was made not to do so.  I again invite you to meet
with us as discuss these matters as I believe we could provide a great deal of helpful information to the Committee. 

Finally, I ask that you provide to me all affidavits correcting inaccuracies in the MacPherson Report (or any other
statement made under oath, such as that of Dianne Bailey).  Additionally, I request to be provided all notes
(electronic or otherwise) that witnesses referred to as they testified before the committee.

Thank you.
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Cindy Hill

Superintendent of Public Instruction
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